RECEIVED

09-13-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2012AP1652

MILWAUKEE BRANCH OF THE
NAACP, VOCES DE LA FRONTERA,
RICKY T. LEWIS, JENNIFER T. PLATT,
JOHN J. WOLFE, CAROLYN
ANDERSON, NDIDI BROWNLEE,
ANTHONY FUMBANKS, JOHNNIE M.
GARLAND, DANETTEA LANE, MARY
MCCLINTOCK, ALFONSO G.
RODRIGUEZ, JOEL TORRES, AND
ANTONIO K. WILLIAMS,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

SCOTT WALKER, THOMAS BARLAND, GERALD C. NICHOL, MICHAEL BRENNAN, THOMAS CANE, DAVID G. DEININGER, AND TIMOTHY VOCKE,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM A JULY 17, 2012, FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. DAVID T. FLANAGAN, PRESIDING CASE NO. 11-CV-5492

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Do the photographic identification for voting requirements of 2011 Wisconsin Act 23 ("Act 23") facially violate the right to vote guaranteed by Wis. Const. art. III, § 1?

Answer by the circuit court: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested. This appeal involves important questions of constitutional law and a significant trial court record. Oral argument will allow counsel to address any specific questions and concerns of the Court.

Publication of this Court's decision is requested because the challenged statutory requirements are of public importance and because resolution of the validity of those requirements will provide needed guidance on important issues of Wisconsin constitutional law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a constitutional challenge to the portions of Act 23 that require each eligible Wisconsin elector who attempts to vote to verify his or her identity by presenting an acceptable form of photographic identification to election officials. Plaintiffs-Respondents are two private, non-profit organizations and twelve individuals. Defendants-Appellants are the Governor of the State of Wisconsin and the individual members of Wisconsin's Government Accountability Board ("GAB"). The circuit court declared that Act 23's identification requirements violate the right to vote guaranteed by Wis. Const. art. III, § 1 and permanently

¹Plaintiffs-Respondents will be referred to collectively as Plaintiffs. Defendants-Appellants will be referred to collectively as Defendants.

enjoined all implementation and enforcement of those requirements.

I. STATUTORY BACKGROUND

Prior to Act 23, Wisconsin electors were not required to present identification when voting, other than proof of residence in certain circumstances. voters identified themselves by stating their name. Under Act 23, an elector must present proof identification to vote in person or by absentee ballot. Proof of identification is defined as identification that contains the name and a photograph of the individual to whom the identification was issued, which name must conform to the name on the individual's voter registration form. Wis. Stat. § 5.02(16c). Act 23 specifies nine forms of acceptable photo identification, including a Wisconsin driver license or state photographic identification card ("state ID") issued by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation ("DOT"). Wis. Stat. § 5.02(6m).

Act 23 requires, with certain exceptions,² that an elector wishing to vote must present an acceptable form of identification to an election official, who must verify that the name on the identification conforms to the name on the poll list and that the photograph on the identification reasonably resembles the elector. Wis. Stat. § 6.79(2)(a).³ If an elector does not have acceptable identification, the elector may vote by provisional ballot pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 6.97. Wis. Stat. § 6.79(2)(d) and (3)(b). The provisional ballot will be counted if the elector presents acceptable identification at the polling place before the polls close or at the office of the municipal clerk or board of election commissioners by 4 p.m. on the Friday after the election. Wis. Stat. § 6.97(3)(b). If an in-person voter presents identification bearing a name that does not

 $^{^{2}}$ See Wis. Stat. § 6.87(4)(a)-(b).

³Similar requirements apply to absentee voters. *See* Wis. Stat. § 6.86(1)(ar); Wis. Stat. § 6.87(1); Wis. Stat. § 6.87(4)(b)1.

conform to the voter's name on the poll list or a photograph that does not reasonably resemble the voter, the person may not vote. Wis. Stat. § 6.79(3)(b).

To accommodate electors who do not possess acceptable identification and to ensure that no elector is charged a fee for voting, Act 23 requires DOT to issue an identification card free of charge to an elector who satisfies all requirements for obtaining such a card, is a U.S. citizen who will be at least 18 years of age on the date of the next election, and requests that the card be provided without charge for purposes of voting. Wis. Stat. § 343.50(5)(a)3.

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs filed their complaint on December 16, 2011 (R. 2). On March 6, 2012, the circuit court preliminarily enjoined Act 23's photo identification requirements (R. 31). On March 15, 2012, Defendants filed a petition for leave to appeal the preliminary injunction order. On March 28, 2012, this Court certified the petition to the Wisconsin Supreme Court (R. 45). On April 16, 2012, the Supreme Court refused the certification and, on April 25, 2012, this Court denied the petition for leave to appeal (R. 55, 64).

In the circuit court, a bench trial took place on April 16 through 19, 2012, April 30, 2012, and May 4, 2012, after which the parties submitted written argument (R. 80-83, 89-97). On July 17, 2012, the circuit court issued an Order for Judgment and Judgment Granting Declaratory and Injunctive Relief which held that Act 23's photo identification requirements are invalid under Wis. Const. art. III, § 1 and permanently enjoined those requirements (R. 84; A-Ap. 101-20). Defendants filed a notice of appeal on July 23, 2012 (R. 85).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The constitutionality of a statutory provision is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo* on appeal. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. Trial court findings of fact will be affirmed unless they are clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). In reviewing questions of constitutional fact, the appellate court first reviews the circuit court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard and then reviews the constitutional impact of those findings under a *de novo* standard. *See State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 15, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781.

ARGUMENT

I. THE VOTER IDENTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS DO NOT IMPOSE AN UNDUE BURDEN ON VOTING RIGHTS UNDER WIS. CONST. ART. III, § 1.

The State of Wisconsin has a clear and legitimate interest in protecting the integrity of elections, safeguarding the voting rights of all voters, establishing public confidence in election results. issue before the Court is whether these interests justify the minimal burdens faced by some voters in obtaining proper identification. The circuit court considered two kinds of evidence: (1) expert statistical evidence about the number of eligible electors in Wisconsin who currently do not possess either a Wisconsin driver license or a state ID; and (2) anecdotal testimony from 34 individual witnesses about their personal experiences in applying for a driver license or a state ID. On the basis of those two categories of evidence, the circuit court concluded that the voter identification requirements of Act 23, on their face, substantially impair the right to vote, in violation of Wis. Const. art. III, § 1.

The circuit court, however, inferred far more from the evidence than was logically justified. Regarding the statistical evidence, the court too easily accepted the opinion of Plaintiffs' expert witness that approximately 333,000 eligible Wisconsin voters lack an acceptable form of identification and provided only a conclusory rejection of contravening expert testimony demonstrating that the available data did not support that opinion. significantly, the court wrongly inferred from a small number of questionable anecdotes that the process of obtaining a driver license or state ID is so burdensome as to substantially impair the right to vote. The reliance on that anecdotal evidence was misplaced. The circuit court ignored the fact that the individual witnesses did not present a representative sampling of the burdens that Wisconsinites typically face in obtaining a driver license or state ID, but rather, were recruited and hand-picked for the purpose of supporting the Plaintiffs' position in this litigation. The court also ignored the fact that almost all of the individual witnesses were shown to actually possess a Wisconsin driver license or state ID and there was no showing that the remaining handful were unable to obtain acceptable identification.

Furthermore, the circuit court overlooked the fact that many of the individual witnesses could easily have avoided many of the burdens they alleged, if they had taken such simple steps as looking up in advance what documentation must be presented at offices of DOT's Division of Motor Vehicles ("DMV"), checking the hours when those offices are open, asking about times when the offices are especially busy, or choosing reasonable methods of transportation to those offices. In addition, the court overlooked the fact that a number of the individual witnesses admitted that they had sought a driver license or state ID for reasons other than voting and thus would have encountered the same "burdens" even without any voter identification requirements. In sum, the circuit court too readily accepted Plaintiffs' exaggerated claims about the burdens involved in simply obtaining a driver license or state ID card.

It will be shown below that the circuit court's decision in this case is incorrect for six reasons. First, the court erred as a matter of law by holding that the voter identification requirements are subject to strict scrutiny. Second, the court erred by holding that the right to vote should be treated differently under the Wisconsin Constitution than it is treated under the federal constitution. Third, the court erred by facially invalidating the voter identification requirements as to all voters in spite of the undisputed evidence that those requirements do not burden the vast majority of voters. Fourth, the Court erred both in accepting the statistical conclusions of Plaintiffs' expert witness and in finding those statistics sufficient to establish a severe burden on the right to vote. Fifth, the court erred in finding the anecdotal testimony of the individual fact witnesses sufficient to establish a severe burden on the right to vote. Finally, the court erroneously failed to recognize that the voter identification requirements are reasonably calculated to advance the State's compelling interests in preventing electoral fraud and promoting voter confidence in the integrity of elections.

A. Under both Wisconsin and federal case law, reasonable, non-discriminatory regulation of voting procedures is not subject to strict scrutiny unless it severely burdens the right to vote.

1. Wisconsin case law.

Plaintiffs claim that Wisconsin's voter ID requirements impose an unconstitutional burden on voting under Wis. Const. art. III, § 1 which states: "Every United States citizen age 18 or older who is a resident of an election district in this state is a qualified elector of that district." The circuit court held that, under that provision, any statute seeking to regulate the right to vote is subject to heightened scrutiny (R. 84 at 17; A-Ap. 117). Contrary

to that conclusion, however, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has never held that heightened scrutiny applies to all voting regulations, but, rather, has consistently applied a more flexible approach that permits reasonable regulations that impose minimal burdens.

In State ex rel. Cothren v. Lean, 9 Wis. 279 (1859), the Court rejected a claim that a statute allowing eligibility challenges at the polls was unconstitutional because it prescribed qualifications for electors beyond those provided in the constitution. Id. at 283-84. The Supreme Court did not subject the law to the type of strict scrutiny employed by the circuit court in this case, but held that "it is clearly within [the Legislature's] province to require any person offering to vote, to furnish such proof as it deems requisite, that he is a qualif[i]ed elector." Id.

In State ex rel. Wood v. Baker, 38 Wis. 71 (1875) (Ryan, C.J.), the Court rejected a claim that procedural errors made by election officials invalidated the votes of individuals who had not made the errors. While the Court concluded that the right to vote could not be impaired by erroneous official actions, it also held that the Legislature can regulate voting by requiring reasonable proof of a voter's qualifications. *Id.* at 86-87. Such proof requirements "are not unreasonable, and are consistent with the present right to vote, as secured by the constitution. The statute imposes no condition precedent to the right; it only requires proof that the right exists." Id. at 87. If a voter is denied the opportunity to vote for failing to provide such proof, he is disenfranchised not by the statute, "but by his own voluntary refusal of proof that he is enfranchised by the constitution." *Id.*

The same principles were followed in *State ex rel. Runge v. Anderson*, 100 Wis. 523, 76 N.W. 482 (1898), which held that the right to vote was not infringed by a statute providing that a candidate nominated by more than one political party could appear only once on the ballot. In upholding the challenged law, the Court noted that the right to vote "cannot be secured without legislative

regulations" and held that, as long as such regulations "are reasonable and bear on all persons equally so far as practicable in view of the constitutional end sought," they do not contravene any constitutional right, but "strengthen and make effective the constitutional guaranties[.]" *Id.* at 533-34; *see also State ex rel. Van Alstine v. Frear*, 142 Wis. 320, 337, 125 N.W. 961 (1910) (primary election law did not unconstitutionally interfere with the right to participate in selection of candidates for public office).

In State ex rel. McGrael v. Phelps, 144 Wis. 1, 128 N.W. 1041 (1910), the Court again recognized that the right to vote, although fundamental, "is yet subject to regulation like all other rights." Id. at 15. The Court explained that legislation that preserves and promotes voting rights by preventing abuse and promoting efficiency is constitutional as long as it does not extend beyond what is reasonable, so as to impair or destroy those rights. Id. at 17-18. The key question is "whether the interference, from the standpoint of a legitimate purpose, can stand the test of reasonableness, all fair doubts being resolved in favor of the proper exercise of lawmaking power." Id. at 18.

In *State ex rel. Small v. Bosacki*, 154 Wis. 475, 143 N.W. 175 (1913), the Court, in rejecting a claim that a statute prescribing voter residency requirements violated the voting rights of transient workmen, reasoned that "to prescribe reasonable rules and regulations for the exercise of the elective franchise . . . infringes upon no constitutional rights." *Id.* at 478. The aim of such regulations, the Court noted, "is to protect lawful government, not to needlessly harass or disfranchise any one." *Id.* at 479.

Clearly, reasonable procedural regulations designed to protect the integrity of elections are not constitutionally suspect and do not violate the fundamental right to vote. Since these early cases, this reasonableness test has been consistently applied. In *State ex rel. Frederick v. Zimmerman*, 254 Wis. 600, 37 N.W.2d 473 (1949), the court rejected a claim that voting rights were impaired by a statute governing non-partisan primary and runoff contests, noting that although "the right of a qualified elector to cast his ballot for the person of his choice cannot be destroyed or substantially impaired[,] . . . the legislature has the constitutional power to say how, when, and where his ballot shall be cast[.]" *Id.* at 613

The Court repeated the same language in upholding the constitutionality of a statute providing that absentee ballots could not be counted unless they were properly authenticated by the municipal clerk. *Gradinjan v. Boho*, 29 Wis. 2d 674, 684-85, 139 N.W.2d 557 (1966).

All these cases held that the right to vote, although fundamental, is subject to reasonable regulation designed to protect the integrity of elections. None of them held that all regulations affecting voting rights are constitutionally suspect or automatically subject to heightened scrutiny. Unless a regulation so severely burdens the right to vote as to destroy or substantially impair it, the regulation is subject to a test of reasonableness in light of its legitimate purpose. *McGrael*, 144 Wis. at 18.

Dells v. Kennedy, 49 Wis. 555, 6 N.W. 381, 6 N.W. 246 (1880), cited by the circuit court, is not to the contrary. In that case, the Court invalidated the 1879 voter registration statute because it prohibited an elector from voting if he failed to register prior to the election. Id. at 556. Dells, however, did not hold that every law requiring proof of qualifications unconstitutionally burdens voting rights. The fatal flaw in the 1879 law was that an otherwise qualified elector, "without his own default or negligence," could lose his vote "by being utterly unable to comply with this law by reason of absence, physical disability, or non-age[.]" Id. at 557.

Dells did not hold that a statute is automatically void if it prohibits even a single elector from voting. Such a reading would be inconsistent with the other decisions discussed above and no published Wisconsin appellate decisions apply Dells in that way. Moreover, a reading of Dells as voiding any statute that prevents even a single elector from voting conflicts with the modern distinction between facial and as-applied challenges. See Section I.C., below. For all these reasons, the circuit court's reliance on Dells is misplaced and the flexible approach represented by the preponderance of Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent should be applied.

2. Federal case law.

The flexible approach to election laws under the Wisconsin Constitution is consistent with federal constitutional analysis. The U.S. Supreme Court "has made clear that a citizen has a constitutionally protected right to participate in elections on an equal basis with other citizens in the jurisdiction[,]" but this right "is not absolute[.]" Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 336 (1972). "[T]he States have the power to impose voter qualifications, and to regulate access to the franchise in other ways." *Id.* This power applies "not only as to times and places, but in relation to . . . prevention of fraud and corrupt practices" so as to "enforce the fundamental right involved." Smiley v. Holm, 285 U.S. 355, 366 (1932). Indeed, states are compelled to take "an active role in structuring elections," Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 433 (1992), and "as a practical matter, there must be a substantial regulation of elections if they are to be fair and honest and if some sort of order, rather than chaos, is to accompany the democratic processes." Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 730 (1974).

Because voting is a fundamental right, state regulations are not entitled to unlimited deference. It does not follow, however, that every inconvenience in voting is unconstitutional or that heightened scrutiny applies to every claimed burden. Rather, given states' responsibility to protect electoral integrity, the Court recognizes that all "[e]lection laws will invariably impose some burden upon individual voters[]" and concludes that such a burden does not automatically compel strict scrutiny. *Burdick*, 504 U.S. at 433. Indeed, a contrary rule would impermissibly "tie the hands of States seeking to assure that elections are operated equitably and efficiently." *Id*. Thus, "the right to vote is the right to participate in an electoral process that is necessarily structured to maintain the integrity of the democratic system." *Id*. at 441 (citing *Anderson v. Celebrezze*, 460 U.S. 780, 788 (1983); *Storer*, 415 U.S. at 730).

The deference given a state election law is determined by weighing "the character and magnitude of the asserted injury" against "the precise interests" the state is seeking to serve. Burdick, 504 U.S. at 434 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). A regulation deserves strict scrutiny only when it places "severe burdens on plaintiffs' rights[.]" Timmons v. Twin Cities Area New Party, 520 U.S. 351, 358 (1997). Such a regulation must be "narrowly drawn to advance a state interest of compelling importance." Burdick, 504 U.S. at 434 (internal quotation marks omitted). When the burden is not severe, however, the review is "less exacting," Timmons, 520 U.S. at 358, and a State's "important regulatory interests" will usually be enough to justify "reasonable, nondiscriminatory restrictions." 504 U.S. at 434 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The Seventh Circuit has recognized that strict scrutiny is "especially inappropriate" when reviewing a voter identification law because, in such cases, "the right to vote is on both sides of the ledger." *Crawford v. Marion County Election Board*, 472 F.3d 949, 952 (7th Cir. 2007), *aff'd*, 553 U.S. 181 (2008). This reflects the fact that "[t]he right of suffrage can be denied by a debasement or dilution of the weight of a citizen's vote just as effectively as by wholly prohibiting the free

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