RECEIVED

11-05-2012

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2012AP1652

MILWAUKEE BRANCH OF THE NAACP, VOCES DE LA FRONTERA, RICKY T. LEWIS, JENNIFER T. PLATT, JOHN J. WOLFE, CAROLYN ANDERSON, NDIDI BROWNLEE, ANTHONY FUMBANKS, JOHNNIE M. GARLAND, DANETTEA LANE, MARY McCLINTOCK, ALFONSO G. RODRIGUEZ, JOEL TORRES and ANTONIO K. WILLIAMS,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

SCOTT WALKER, THOMAS BARLAND, GERALD C. NICHOL, MICHAEL BRENNAN, THOMAS CANE, DAVID G. DEININGER and TIMOTHY VOCKE,

Defendants-Co-Appellants,

DORIS JANIS, JAMES JANIS, and MATTHEW AUGUSTINE.

Intervenors-Co-Appellants.

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

In his manuscripts and trial reports, Prof. Hood never qualified or questioned the analytical value and reliability of the Georgia exact match method. Defendants failed to offer any evidence, reason, or expert opinion as to why Prof. Mayer's estimate might be off by anything more than an insubstantial fraction. In fact, Prof. Hood only opined that the true number of non-matches was likely less than 9.6%, but he did not contend that the percentage of voters without licenses or IDs is substantially less than the number both he and Prof. Mayer identified in their reports. R.95 pp.20-21,41. The only distinction Prof. Hood identified between the Georgia study and his and Prof. Mayer's Wisconsin exact match was that Georgia had the benefit of Social Security numbers. R.94 pp.42-43. Yet, the GAB's HAVA checks also had the benefit of Social Security numbers and identified a similar 9% nonpossession rate. R.90pp.57-63; R.91pp.89-90; R94 pp.43-44.

Finally, Defendants also contend that Prof. Mayer's findings were flawed because he failed to consider whether

the estimated 333,276 persons who lack an Act 23-prescribed photo ID can get one. However, the circuit court did not rely on Prof. Mayer's expert reports or testimony to determine the severity of voters' burdens. Rather, the circuit court relied upon Prof Mayer's expert reports and testimony to determine the *scope* of the burden, *i.e.*, what number of qualified electors would be burdened by the photo ID requirement because they lacked one. R.95p.32. That factual finding by the circuit court, that an estimated 333,276 persons lack the prescribed photo ID, was based upon reasonable, reliable, and accurate evidence and was not clearly erroneous.

Prof. Mayer's findings were the product of a reasonable, reliable, and accurate estimate of the number of voters without WisDOT photo IDs. He employed reliable principles and methods of social scientific statistical analysis in identifying an important quantity of interest in this case. The circuit court correctly adopted his factual findings, and Defendants have thoroughly failed to satisfy their burden of proving that the court was clearly erroneous in doing so. *See* R.91pp.79-82.

V. This Facial Challenge to Act 23 is Appropriate

Given the thousands of constitutionally qualified voters who are potentially disenfranchised by Act 23, this facial challenge satisfies any policy consideration of judicial restraint because it is based on a solid factual record, discussed *supra*. An as-applied challenge would be insufficient to address the Act's infirmities.

Defendants wrongly assert that *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶30, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328, dictates that a facial challenge to Act 23 should fail because "the vast majority of the voting eligible population in Wisconsin" possess an Act 23 ID. Intervenors cite *Society Ins. v. LIRC*,

2010 WI 68, ¶26, 326 Wis. 2d 444, 786 N.W.2d 385, for the same proposition. Justice Roggensack has explained that the *Cole* standard originated in *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739 (1987), and is merely "descriptive of the end product of a court's reasoning, rather than a test that rigidly sets the analysis that must be undertaken...." *In re Termination of Parental Rights to Diana P.*, 2005 WI 32, ¶67, 279 Wis. 2d 169, 694 N.W.2d 344. The Court clarified that, under the appropriate doctrinal scrutiny, a Court may find a statute constitutionally infirm and is not required by *Cole* to affirm a facial challenge only if a law is unconstitutional in every possible instance:

Salerno does not set out a methodology under which a court is precluded from holding that a statute is unconstitutional unless the court determines that every possible statutory application is unconstitutional; rather, Salerno is descriptive of a statute that, when examined under the relevant constitutional doctrines, but independent of particular factual applications, states an invalid rule of law.

Id.(citation omitted).

Defendants' crabbed articulation of the *Cole/Salerno* standard ignores that explanation and the Wisconsin decisions construing a facial challenge consistent with the following reinterpretation, which the majority cited approvingly in *Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove*:

If a court holds a statute unconstitutional on its face, the state may not enforce it under any circumstances, unless an appropriate court narrows its application....

2008 WI 51, ¶44 n.9, 309 Wis.2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211 (citations omitted); *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶43n.11,

333 Wis.2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451; *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶13, 323 Wis.2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

Further, federal courts permit facial challenges in many contexts. See Citizens United v. FEC, 130 S.Ct. 876, 919 (2010) (campaign finance); Washington State Grange v. Washington State Republican Party, 552 U.S. 442, 449 n.6 (2008) (First Amendment); Stenberg v. Carhart, 530 U.S. 914 (2000) (abortion); City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507, 532-535 (1997) (Fourteenth Amendment); Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601 (1973) (free speech); Aptheker v. Secretary of State, 378 U.S. 500 (1964) (right to travel); MDK, Inc. v. Village of Grafton, 277 F.Supp.2d 943, 947-948 (E.D. Wis. 2003) (facial challenges appropriate in free speech cases because "any attempt to enforce such legislation would create an unacceptable risk of the suppression of ideas").

In *Citizens United*, the Court upheld a facial challenge to a prohibition on corporate expenditures for express political advocacy and the majority provided three reasons, all directly applicable to this Court's scrutiny of Act 23, why an as-applied approach to the challenged law was inappropriate: the costs and problems attendant to uncertainty regarding to whom the law applies; protracted, piecemeal litigation would stretch beyond the election cycle, chilling the exercise of constitutional rights and causing injured parties to be disinclined to pursue post-election remedies; and, the "primary importance" of the right to the "integrity of the political process." 130 S.Ct. at 895.

Nor does the *Crawford* decision support Defendants' argument, because that Court's reasons for denying a facial challenge to the Indiana Photo ID law are patently absent here. In *Crawford*, the Court declined to entertain a facial challenge because of a flawed record which did not allow the

Court to quantify the number of Indiana electors without acceptable photo ID, had no "concrete evidence of the burden imposed on voters who currently lack photo identification," and from which the Court could not quantify difficulties faced by indigent voters. 533 U.S. at 200-201. Based on the scant record in *Crawford*, notably different from this trial record, the *Crawford* Court stated: "[W]e cannot conclude that the statute imposes 'excessively burdensome requirements' on *any* class of voters." *Id.* at 202 (emphasis added) (quoting *Storer v. Brown*, 415 U.S. 724, 738 (1974)).

Finally, Intervenors erroneously argue that this claim can be resolved as an as-applied challenge by simply improving WisDOT's "customer service" or permitting certain individuals to vote without photo ID. The burdens potentially faced by hundreds of thousands of qualified electors without Act 23-prescribed photo IDs are not a function of WisDOT's customer service, but derive as a matter of law from the statutory and administrative requirements imposed upon constitutionally qualified voters by Act 23. For example, independent of Act 23, applicants for a photo ID must provide satisfactory documentation of name, birth date, identity, residence, citizenship and Social Security number. Wis. Stat. §§343.50(4), 343.14(2)(a), (b), (bm),(er),(f). Only a certified birth certificate is satisfactory proof of name and birth date, and state statute requires a \$20 fee for a birth certificate and more expensive filing fees to amend an erroneous birth certificate. Wis. Stat. §§69.01(25), 69.03-.05,69.21(1)(a)1., 69.22(1)(c);814.61(1)(a), 814.85(1), 814.86(1), (1m); R.84 pp.2-3; A-App. 102-103. See also, supra, page 2-3.

The burdens created by this statutory scheme may fall heaviest on those electors, exemplified by Ricky Lewis and Ruthelle Frank, who cannot obtain birth certificates without great expense, but the complex constellation of burdensome financial, travel, and time-consuming costs is common to all electors, and especially the thousands of low-income, disabled, and elderly voters with no photo ID. Because the photo ID requirement severely burdens such a substantial number of qualified voters, a facial challenge is the only means to resolve the constitutional infirmities of Act 23.

VI. Act 23 Does Not Serve the State's Legitimate Interest in Preventing Voter Fraud

The putative purpose of the photo ID requirement of Act 23 is to prevent voter impersonation fraud at the polls. However, despite unsubstantiated complaints about vote fraud, official local and state investigations in Wisconsin have not identified any widespread vote fraud and no voter impersonation at the polls to justify Act 23's severe burdens on constitutionally qualified voters.

The circuit court received extensive evidence from Professor Mayer regarding the results of official investigations and prosecutions into vote fraud in Wisconsin, and whether the photo ID requirement of Act 23 might prevent or deter election fraud. The Attorney General's Task Force investigated allegations of vote fraud and, out of approximately 3 million votes cast in the 2008 general election, filed charges against 20 individuals, including 11 felons voting, 2 cases of double voting and 1 case of absentee ballot fraud. The absentee ballot case involved two voters who voted absentee and at the polls, which was the result of poor absentee record keeping by the elections clerk. Six cases involved false voter registrations, but did not involve the false registrants attempting to vote. R.17¶66; R.60 Exs.3,4; R.90 pp.27,23-24. Based upon Prof. Mayer's expert reports and testimony, the circuit court reasonably concluded: "Since

2004 voter fraud investigations have been undertaken by the Milwaukee Police Department, by the Mayor of Milwaukee, and by the Wisconsin Department of Justice, working with various county prosecutors working through the Attorney General's Election Fraud Task Force. None of these efforts have produced a prosecution of a voter fraud violation that would have been prevented by the voter ID requirements of Act 23." R.84p.12; A-App.112.

Defendants presented no evidence to support a different factual finding about the relationship between voter fraud in Wisconsin and Act 23. Moreover, Defendants now concede that voter impersonation is the only type of fraud directly preventable by a photo ID requirement. (Defs. Brief p.33.) Nonetheless, Defendants make several erroneous, unsubstantiated arguments to justify the need for a photo ID law to deter vote fraud. First, Defendants argue that the failure to prosecute voter impersonation fraud is not probative of its absence because it is difficult to detect. Defendants provide no evidence to substantiate such a speculative that the circuit court's finding argument or is clearly erroneous. Defendants only invoke a thin passage from the 7th Circuit decision in *Crawford* about voter impersonation, linking the difficulty of detection "endemic underenforcement" and the absence of severe penalties for such violations, 472 F.3d 949, 953 (7th Cir. 2007), two factors clearly not present in Wisconsin given the large-scale official investigations into possible vote fraud in 2004 and 2008 elections.

Defendants also argue, without evidentiary basis, that even if photo ID cannot deter voter impersonation, it might deter felon voting, noncitizen voting, or double voting in multiple locations. Defendants did not rebut Prof. Mayer's testimony that photo ID would not prevent double voting, which is easily detectible post-election in the SVRS voter database even without a photo ID requirement. R.91pp.101-102. With respect to illegal votes by felons or noncitizens, a photo ID requirement serves no deterrent and detection function, unlike the current poll book signature requirement of Act 23, which provides excellent forensic evidence identifying the actual person who cast any questioned ballot. Wis.Stat. §6.79(2)(a).

Finally, Defendants argue that the circuit court failed to recognize the state's legitimate interest in preventing vote fraud because the court cited the CCES that voter confidence in the electoral system is not necessarily enhanced by voter ID laws. R.60 Ex.3pp.15-16; R.84,pp.17-18; A-App.117-118. To the contrary, the circuit court properly looked at "both sides of the ledger," *i.e.*, the extent to which the right to vote is burdened by the requirement *and* whether the law serves or advances the legitimate objective of combating vote fraud and enhancing voter confidence. Defendants suggest, however, that no inquiry is required to determine whether the challenged photo ID requirement advances the state's legitimate interest, and cite *Purcell v. Gonzalez*, 549 U.S.1, 4 (2006), for the proposition that photo ID requirements, by definition, advance voter confidence in the electoral process.

Defendants far exaggerate the reach of *Purcell*. In assessing the reasonableness of an election regulation, the inquiry does not terminate by declaring that the state has a legitimate interest in electoral integrity. Rather, the inquiry extends to whether the burden created is a purposeful rather than gratuitous intrusion upon the exercise of the franchise. For example, in *Purcell*, the Supreme Court did not conclude its analysis on identifying the state's legitimate interest in prevention of vote fraud. Although the Court vacated a lower court injunction, the Court's assertion of the state's interest

did not settle the validity of the photo ID requirement at issue. Justice Stevens set forth the lower courts' analytic tasks, which are identical to the circuit court's approach here of looking at "both sides of the ledger":

At least two important factual issues remain largely unresolved: the scope of the disenfranchisement that the novel identification requirements will produce, and the prevalence and character of the fraudulent practices that allegedly justify those requirements.

Id. at 6 (Stevens, J., concurring).

Likewise, even if there is a public belief that photo ID requirements might assuage concerns about the integrity of the electoral process, mere perceptions cannot justify the imposition of unreasonable burdens on exercise of the franchise. The circuit court identified the serious danger of such an approach: "Perceptions are malleable....The protection of our most precious state constitutional rights must not founder in the tumultuous tides of public misperception." R.84 p.17; A-App.17 (quoting *Weinschenk*, 203 S.W.3d at 218-219).

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that Act 23 constitutes an unreasonable and onerous burden upon the right to vote under art. III, §1 for potentially hundreds of thousands of constitutionally qualified electors, and that this burden is not narrowly tailored to address or resolve the state's legitimate interest in election integrity.

VII. Intervenors' Claim Based on the Federal Election Clauses Is Waived and Has Been Consistently Rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court

Intervenors claim that Wisconsin's Constitution and courts may not constrain the Legislature on any issue involving federal elections, pursuant to U.S. Const. art. I, § 4 & art. II, § 1. This issue was not raised in the circuit court and is waived on appeal, under long-standing principle. Nickel v. United States, 2012 WI 22, ¶21, 339 Wis.2d 48, 810 N.W.2d 450 (quoting *Cappon v. O'Day.* 165 Wis. 486, 490, 162 N.W. 655 (1917) ("One of the rules of well-nigh universal application...is that questions not raised and properly presented for review in the circuit court will not be reviewed on appeal."); Terpstra v. Soiltest, Inc., 63 Wis.2d 585, 593, 218 N.W.2d 129 (1974). In their Petition, Intervenors never referred to the Election Clauses and this Court, in reliance thereof, granted permissive intervention, stating the petition "demonstrates that the proposed intervenors' claim involves the same question of law as the pending appeal." Order dated Oct. 5, 2012.

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